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INTRODUCTION. 

Upon the surrender of Post Vincennes to Colonel George 
Rogers Clark, February 24, 1779, that dauntless warrior 
immediately began planning a campaign for the reduction 
of Detroit. He says: "Detroit opened full in our view. 
In the fort at that place there were not more than eighty 
men-a great part of them invalids-and we were informed 
that many of the principal inhabitants were disaffected to 
the British cause. 1..,he Indians on our route ·we knew 
would now, more than ever, be cool tovvard the English. 
* * * We could now augment our forces in this quarter 

to about four hundred men, as near half the inhabitants of 
Post Vincennes ·?:ould join us. Kentucky, '\i\·e supposed, 
could immediately furnish tvvo hundred men, as there was 
a certainty of receiving a great addition of settlers in the 
spring. With our own stores, which we had learned were 
safe on their passage, added to those of the British, 1 there 
would not be a single article wanting for an expedition 
against Detroit. We privately resolved to embrace the 
object that seemed to court our acceptance, without de­
lay, giving the enemy no time to recover from the blows 
they had received; but we wished it to become the object 
of the soldiery and the inhabitants before we should say 
anything about it." * * * Early in the month of 

1 Three boat loads of goods and provisions, about $10,000 worth, had 
been captured by a detachment sent up the \Vabash river for that pur­

pose on the day after the surrender. 

(97) 
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March 1 laid before the officers my plans for the reduc­
tion of Detroit, and explained the almost certainty of suc­
cess, and the probability of keeping possession of it until 
we could receive succor from the States. * * * In 
short, the enterprise was def erred until the - of June, 
,vhen our troops were to rendezvous at Post Vincennes.'' 
But when the appointed time came, the troops sent from 
Virginia under Colonel Montgomery numbered only one 
hundred and fifty, and from Kentucky, instead of three hun­
dred under ColonelJohnBowman, there came but thirty vol­
unteers under Captain McGary. Added to this, the paper 
money ,vi.th which the expedition was supplied had so de­
preciated that it was almost valueless, and the purchase of 
provisions was impossible. For these reasons the cam­
paign was def erred for the present.1 

In the spring of I 780, after correspondence with Gov­
ernor Jefferson, of Virginia, Colonel Clark began to col­
lect stores and prepare boats at the Ohio falls for the ex­
pedition against Detroit.2 Much was hoped for in Virginia 
from the favorable disposition of the Canadians and the 
prestige which the successes of this year in the north and 
south had given to the Americans among the Indians.3 

In the task of preparation the utmost discouragements 
were met. In the fall of 1780 there was great distress from 
lack of provisions at Fort Jefferson on the Mississippi at 
the mouth of the Ohio, at Kaskaskia and at Vincennes. 
Dishonest practices by agents and officers were wasting 
the resources of the State. Di~putes as to authority were 
rife. Respect and confidence in Clark seems about the 
only thing that held the soldiery in anything like disci-

1 Clark's MS. Memoirs; Dillon's Hist. Ind., Chap. xv. 
2 Virginia State Papers, Vol. 1, pp. 341-390. 
8 Id. 326. 
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pline.1 The agents of the government were distrusted by 
the people and their drafts on the treasury taken ,vith 
much reluctance. Desertions were constantly going on:2 

Slow progress was made, and in the meantime the Indians, 
who were held in friendly relations _only by liberal pres­
ents, finding the supplies cut off at the frontier posts and 
being brought over to the interests of the English, began 
to harry the out-lying settlements. In December of r 780 
Governor Jefferson issued an order to the county lieuten­
ants of the frontier counties of Virginia levying detach­
ments from the militia to join the expedition at the falls 
of the Ohio. These orders aroused the most stubborn op­
position from the people of those counties, and protests 
were made from Berkeley and Greenbrier counties, which 
set forth the danger to their inhabitants from Indian in­
cursions if their militia were further weakened by detach­
ments.3 The militia men refused to obey the draft. On 
January 18, 1781, Colonel Clark, writing to the Governor 
of Virginia, says: ''l have examined your proposed in­
structions. I don't recollect of anything more that is nec­
essary except the mode of paying the expenses of the gar­
rison at Detroit, in case of success, as supporting our 
credit among strangers may be attended with great and 
good consequences, and my former experiences induce me 
to wish it to be the case where I have the honor to com­
mand. I would also observe to your Excellency that I 
could wish to set out on this expedition free from any re­
luctance, which I doubt I can not do without a satisfactory 
explanation of the treatment of the Virginia delegates in 
Congress to me, in objecting to an appointment designed 

1 Letter of Richard vVinston to Colonel Jno. Todd, Virginia State Pa­
pers, Vol. I, p. 380; Letter of Robert George to Colonel G. R. Clark, Id., 
p. 382; also letter of John \Villiams and Leo. Helm. 

2 Id. 38.1; Id. 396. 
3 Virginia State Papers, Vol. r, p. 461-468. 
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for me, which your Excellency can not be a stranger to. 
I could wish not to be thought to solicit promotion, and 
that my duty to myself did not oblige me to transmit these 
sentiments to you. The treatment I have generally met 
with from this State hath prejudiced me as far as consist­
ent in her interest and I wish not to be distrusted in the 
execution of her order by any continental colonel that may 
be in the countries that I have business in, which I doubt 
will be the case, although the orders of the commander 
in chief is very positive. " 1 

On February ro he wrote the governor of Virginia, 
setting fcrth the great lack of arms and his disappoint­
ment at the want of men,2 and he received from Gov­
ernor Jefferson an encouraging letter notifying him that 
he had obtained leave from Baron Steuben for Colonel J. 
Gibson to attend as next in command, and that with Gen­
eral Washington's recommendation, he hoped to have 
Colonel Gibson's regiment attached to Clark's command.3 

A letter written on March 27 to the governor of Virginia 
contains the following: ''It's a very alarming circumstance 
to me, that if the Frederick, Berkeley and Hampshire 
militia being excused from the western service. I make 
no doubt but that good policy might require it. I sus­
pected it, but six or seven hundred men deducted from two 
thousand is very considerable. I shall never think other­
ways than that the militia of these counties would have 
marched with cheerfulness, had they not been encouraged 
to the contrary. Colonel Gibson's regiment will make 
some amends, but far from :filling up the blank; perhaps 
we may do it by volunteers from this quarter. I feel the 
distress of my country and shall devote myself to its in-

t Id., p. 441. 
i Id., p. 504. 
9 Id., p. 511. 
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terest. · But, sir, if any misfortune shall happen, I have 
the consolation to hope the cause will not be misplaced. 
My situation is truly disagreeable; the most daring at­
tempts ,vould be agreeable to me 1vvas there nothing but 
death to fear. But more I conceive to be depending at pres­
ent. To be flung into my situation by a set of men that 
are not honored vvith the sentiments of a soldier, is truly 
disagreeable. I hope these gents alluded to will live to 
repent of their conduct. Conscious of the rectitude of 
the orders of government aggravate the guilt of these per­
sons, in my ideas, and can not ref rain from giving. those, 
my sentiments, though it may reflect no honor to me." 1 

Colonel Broadhead refusing to allow Colonel Gibson's 
regiment to be detached on this expedition, Clark ·wrote 
to General Washington from Fort Pitt, May 20, 1781, 
asking explicit orders to Colonel Broadhead to this end. 
In his letter he says: '' The advantages which must de­
rive to the States from our proving successful is of such 
importance that I think deserved greater preparations to 
insure it. But I have not yet lost sight of Detroit. 
Nothing seems to threaten us but the want of men. But 
even should ,ve be able to cut our ,vay through the Indians 
and find they have no reinforcements at Detroit, we may 
probably have the assurance to attack it, though our force 
be much less than proposed, which was t1vvo thousand, as 
def eating the Indians with inconsiderable loss on our side 
would almost insure our success. Should this be the case, 
a valuable peace will probably ensue. But o~ the con-

. trary, if we fall through in our present plans ~nd no expe­
dition should take place, it is to be feared that the conse­
quences will be fatal to the whole frontier, as every exer­
tion will be made by the British party to harrass them as 
much as possible-disable them from giving any succor to 

I Id., p. 597. 
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our eastern or southern forces. The Indian war is now more 
general than ever. Any attempt to appease them will be 
fruitless. " 1 

Writing to the governor of Virginia under date of May 
23, he says: "The Continental officers and soldiers of this 
department, to a man, is anxious for the expedition sup­
posed against the Indians. The country in general wish­
ing it to take place. But too few think of going, and so 
great a contrast betvveen the people of the two States in 
this quarter that no method can be taken to force them to 
war. We are taking every step in our power to raise vol­
unteers. What number we shall get I can't guess. I 
doubt too few. The disappointment of seven hundred 
men from Berkeley and Hampshire I am afraid is too great 
a stroke to recover, as in fact, the greatest part of this 
country is in subordination neither to Pennsylvania nor 
Virginia. General Washington informs me that he had 
received information that Colonel Connellv had left New . ~ 

York with a design to make a diversion in the countries 
to be reinforced by Sir John Johnson in Kanady. I doubt, 
sir, if we shall be obliged to play a desperate game this 
campaign. If we had the two thousand men first proposed, 
such intelligence would give me pleasure. By the greatest 
exertions and your timely supplies of money, we have the 
boats and provisions expected in this quarter nearly com­
plete. I propose to leave this about the 15th of June, if 
we can imbody a sufficient number of men by that time. 
I do not yet despair of seeing the proposed object on tol­
erable terms, although our circumstances is rather gloomy. 
Colonel Crockett and regiment arrived a fe\v days past, 
who informed me that a company or two of volun­
teers might he expected from Frederick and Berkeley. I 

Virginia State Paper, Vol. 2, p. 108. 
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am sorry we are so circumstanced as to be glad to receive 
them. " 1 

It became apparent by August 1st, that it would be im­
possible to raise the number of men required for the exe­
cution of the plans against Detroit. Colonel Clark vvas 
greatly disappointed, and wrote from Wheeling to the 
Governor of Virginia, August 4th, saying: 

'' I make no doubt but it was alarm to you that I had not 
left this country. Whoever undertakes to raise an army in 
~his quarter will find himself disappointed, except the law 
was of greater force, and not depending on the wills of 
the populace. This country calls aloud for an expedition, 
wishing me to put it in execution, but so strangely infat­
uated that all methods I have been able to pursue ~rill not 
draw them into the field. We have made drafts to no pur­
pose. Governor Reed has also written to them to no ef­
fect. From the time I found I ~1as to be disappointed in 
the troops ordered by the government, I began to suspect 
the want of men which is now the case when every thing 
else is prepared."· "I could not get Colonel Gibsons reg­
i1nent, otherwise I should have been gone long since, but 
had to make up the deficiency by volunteers, but finding no 
argument are sufficient, I determined to quit there, leaving 
no stone unturned by which they might hereafter excuse 
themselves." 

"To save the garrison of Pittsburgh from being evacu­
ated, I have been obliged to spare them a considerable 
quantity of flour, but yet have enough to do something 
clever had I men. I have relinquished my expectations 
relative to the plans heretofore laid, and shall drop do\,'n 
the river ,vith what men I have, amounting to about four 
hundred, consisting of Crockett's regiment, Craig's artil­
lery, volunteers, etc. If I find a prospect of completing 

1 Id., p. u7. 
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my forces in any other country I shall do it, and make my 
strokes according to circumstances. If I find it out of my 
power to do anything of importance, I shall dispose of the 
public stores to the greatest advantage, and quit all further 
thoughts of enterprise in this quarter." 

'' I do not yet condemn myself for undertaking the ex­
pedition against Detroit. I yet think had I near the num­
ber of men first proposed, should have carried it. I may 
yet make some strokes among the Indians before the 
close ofthe·campaign, but at present really to be doubted. 
I have been at so much pains to enable us to prosecute the 
first plan, that the disappointment is doubly mortifying to 
me, and I feel for the dreadful consequences that will 
ensue throughout the frontier if nothing is done. This 
country already begins to suspect it, and to invite me to 
execute some plans of their own, but I shall no longer trust 
them."1 

A letter by Major Croghan to Colonel Wm. Davis, writ-
ten at Fort Pitt, August 18th, gives the information that, 
"a few days ago General Clarke set out from this country 
by ,vater, with about four hundred men, including officers 
and Colonel Crockett's regiment, flattering himself he would 
be joined by some more from Kentucky and the Falls of 
Ohio, about half-way between this and the falls. The general 
expected I ,500 men from this part of the country, and is 
much chagrined at his disappointment, having provision, 
ammunition, artillery, quartermaster's stores, boats, etc., 
sufficient for upwards of 2,000 men. Had the-country people 
turned out and gone with him, I have no doubt the people on 
this side the mountain, in particular, would be sensible of 
the advantage they must reap by being able to live at their 
plantations without the dread of being scalped, which is 
far from being the case at present, few days passing with­
out the Indians doing mischief of this kind." 

1 Virginia State Papers, Vol. II, p. 294. 
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"I much fear the general ·will be disappointed in getting 
men down the river from Kentucky and the Falls. If so, 
the State is thrown into an infinity of expense ,vithout any 
advantage, as the few men the general no\V has is not more 
than might be necessary to guard the great number of 
boats, stores, etc., he has with him." 

"From every account we have, the Indians are prepar­
ing to receive him, and if they should attack him in his 
present situation, either by land or water, I dread the con­
sequences. The reason so fe\V went with hi1n from this 
place, is o,ving to the dispute that subsists here bet\veeP 
the Virginians and Pennsylvanians respecting the true 
bounds of the latter, and the general being a Virginian 
was opposed by the most noted men here of the Pennsyl­
vania party. The peof>le here blame Virginia very much 
for making them and their lands (\vhich beyond the 
shadow of a doubt is far out of the true bounds of Penn­
sylvania) over to Pennsylvania, and I am assured ·will 
never be content until the true bounds of Pennsylvania is 
run. Tis true they are going to run what they call a tem­
porary boundary, but so much injustice is done to the State 
of Virginia and the people v_,bo are now in it, and by this 
scandalous imposition will be forced into Pennsylvania, 
that nothing but discord will reign until the bounds is run 
agreeable to the words of the charter of Pennsylvania."1 

It had been given out that this expedition was against 
the Indians of the Northwest, and the designs on Detroit 
were kept in the background, but nevertheless, Brant, the 
Indian chief, was well informed as to its purpose.2 It \vas 
Clark's intention to proceed up the Big Miami river and 
first attack the Shawnee to,vns on that river. But subse­
quently he changed his plans and decided to make the 
Falls of the Ohio his base of operation. 

1Id. 345. 2Letter to Lord George Germain, Appendix. 
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Colonel Archibald Laughery, or _Loughery, was the 
county lieutenant of Westmoreland county, Pennsylvania, 
and upon Clark's requisition he raised and provided with 
an outfit, principally at the expe~se of himself and Cap­
tain Robert Orr, a party of one hundred and seven mounted 
volunteers. This company rendezvoused at Carnahan's 
Block-house, eleven miles west of Hannastown, on August 
2, 178r, and marched by way of Pittsburgh to Fort Henry 
(Wheeling), where they arrived on the 8th, about twelve 
hours after Colonel Clark, with all the men, boats and 
stores he could gather, had departed, leaving orders for 
Colonel Loughery to follow and overtake him at the 
mouth of Little Kanawha. Several days were consumed 
by Colonel Loughery in getting started. In the meantime 
Clark's men began to desert. Loughery apprehended 
Lieutenant Baker and sixteen men who were deserting 
from Clark at Fishing Creek. To prevent desertion Col­
onel Clark was obliged to proceed from the Kanawha, 
leaving a letter affixed to a pole directing Loughery to fol­
low to the Falls of the Ohio. Loughery's stores and for­
age gave out at this point, and he detached Captain 
Shannon v.rith seven men in a small boat to overtake 
Clark and secure supplies. This detachment had not pro­
ceeded far when the Indians, who were carefully watch­
ing the expedition, captured Shapnon and all of his men 
but two, and also obtained a letter to Colonel Clark de­
tailing ·Loughery's situation. Joseph Brant, with one hun­
dred Indian warriors, lay in wait to attack Clark at the 
mouth of the Miami river, but Clark passed in the night, 
and the Indians being afraid of the cannon and the num­
ber of men, did not molest him, but concluded to wait for 
Loughery's party. It is said that the In_dians placed the 
prisoners they had taken in a conspicuous position on the 
north shore of the Ohio river, and promised to spare their 
lives on condition that they 'Nould hail Loughery's party 
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and induce them to land and surrender. However this 
may have been, at about 10 o'clock on August 24th, 
Loughery having reached an attractive spot about ten 
miles below the mouth of the Big Miami, near the present 
town of Aurora, Dearborn county, Indiana, landed on the 
north side of the Ohio river, in the mouth of a creek ,vhich 
has since been called Loughery's creek. The Ohio river 
was very lo\v, and a large sandbar extended from the south 
almost across to the north bank of the river. Colonel 
Loughery's party, wearied with their slow and laborious 
progress, and discouraged by the failure to overtake Clark's 
army, removed their horses ashore and turned them loose 
to feed, "rhile some of the men cut grass sufficient to keep 
them alive until they should reach the Falls. A buffalo 
had been killed and all were engaged in preparing a meal, 
when the Indians appeared on both sides of the river, and 
began firing from the woods. The soldiers seized their 
arms and made a defense as long as their ammunition 
held out. An attempt was made to escape by the boats, 
but they were so unwieldy, and the ,vater so lo,v, that the 
Indians cut them off. Unable to escape or defend them­
selves, Colonel Loughery surrendered. Brant, the Indian 
chief, says thirty-six, including five officers, were killed 
and sixty-four made prisoners. One or two escaped, but 
did not reach home for several months afterward. Lough­
~ry was tomaha,vked by a Shawnee Indian after the 
battle, while sitting on a log, and all the wounded ·who 
were unable to march ,vere similarly dispatched. The 
prisoners ,vere marched eight miles up the Miami river to 
an encampment, where the Indians ,vere joined by one 
hundred ,vhite men under command of Captain Thomp­
son and three hundred Indians under Captain McKee, 
both British officers. All of the British and Indians, \Yith 
Brant's band of ,varriors, vvent do\vn against the Ken­
tucky settlements as far as the Falls of the Ohio, leaving 
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a sergeant and eighteen men to guard the prisoners. No 
attack was made on Clark's army, however. The pris­
oners were taken to Detroit and sent from there to 
Montreal. 

The disaster to Loughery was the culmination of the 
misfortunes of this ill-fated expedition. All thought of 
accomplishing anything more than the destruction of the 
Indian villages was abandoned. Nothing of note was 
done until the fall of 1782, when another expedition was 
organized, and moving rapidly from Wheeling, destroyed 
the large Shawnee towns on the Miami and the British 
posts as far north as Lake Erie. 

Lieutenant Isaac Anderson, who succeeded to the com­
mand of Shannon's company, after the capture of the lat­
ter, has kept a diary of the expedition from the start at 
Carnahan's Block-house, including the fight, captivity and 
his wonderful escape from Montreal and trip through the 
wilds of Maine, Connecticut, New York and Pennsylvania, 
to his home. This diary is now in the possession of his son 
Isaac R. Anderson, who resides at Venice (Ross P. 0.), 
Ohio, and the diary is also copied in McBride's history of 
Butler county, Ohio. 

There are appended here two accounts of the Pigeon 
Roost massacre, which seem to give some details not 
found in Dillon's History of Indiana, worthy of preser­
vation. 
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THE BRITISH REPORT. 

Q!;EBEc, 23d Oct., Sr. 

Lord George Germain by tlze Fleet: 

MY LoRn-I have the pleasure to acquaint your Lord­
ship that, by a late dispatch from Detroit, I have an ac­
count of an advantage gained by Joseph Brant with an 
hundred Indians over a division of Colonel Clark's army 
assembling upon the Ohio for the purpose of destroying 
the Indian settlements, and if successful in his levies, pen­
etrating to Detroit. Joseph having intelligence of his 
motions, waited for him at the mouth of the Miamis river, 
,vhere he passed in the night, and with too great a force for 
Joseph to attack him, but the next day he fell upon a party 
of 100 men, commanded by a Lieutenant Colonel Lockery, 
64 of w horn he made prisoners ; 36, including the colonel 
and five other officers, were killed. A reinforcement of a 
company of rangers and a strong body of Indians pene­
trate as far as the falls in hopes of pursuing the blow 
with success, but Mr. Clark's army were so discouraged 
by this early defeat that they began to separate, and it is 
supposed have, for this season, abandoned their enterprize. 
Many similar Indian parties in that quarter have been very 
successful, and some considerable strokes have been made 
upon the Mohawk river and frontiers of Pennsylvania. 
The vicinity of these, and the perpetual terror and losses 
of the inhabitants, will I hope operate po,verfully in our 
favor ,vith Vermont, who ,vill experience the happy 
effects of having their settlements protected, and some 
of the inhabitants of the neighboring States begin 
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to retire there for safety. It would be endless and 
difficult to enutl)erate to your lordship the parties 
that are continually employed upon the back settle­
ments. From the Illinois country to the frontiers of 
New York there is a continual succession. I must 
do Colonel Johnson and the officers who have the di­
rection of this service the justice to acquaint your lord­
ships that the families I have placed upon Carlton Island, 
at Niagara and Detroit, with a view to cultivation, prom­
ise fare to succeed, and I have not a doubt will, in a very 
few years, materially contribute as well to the support 
as to the convenience of those posts. 

I am, &c., 

[Signed.] FRED. HALDIMAND. 
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DIARY OF CAPTAIN ISAAC ANDERSON. 

[Original in possession of I. R. Anderson, Esq., Venice (Ross P. 0.), o.:, 

August 1, 1781. We met at Colonel Carnahan's in or­
der to form a body of men to join General Clark on the 
expedition against the Indians. 

Aug. 2. Rendezvoused at said place. 
Aug. 3. Marched under command of Colonel Lochery 

to Maracle's mill about eighty three in number. 
Aug. 4. Crossed the Y oughagania river. 
Aug. 5. l\iarched to Devor's ferry. 
Aug. 6. To Raccoon settlement. 
Aug. 7. Captain Mason's. 
Aug. 8. To Wheeling Fort and found Clark was started 

down the river about twelve miles. 
Aug. 9. Colonel Lochery sent a quartermaster and of­

ficer of the horse after him, which overtook him at Middle 
Island and returned ; then started with all our foot troops 
on seven boats, and our horses by land to Grave creek. · 

Aug. 13. Moved down to Fishing creek; we took up 
Lieutenant Baker and sixteen men deserting from General 
Clark and ,vent that day to middle of Long Beach, where 
we stayed that night. 

Aug. 15. To the Three Islands, where we found Major 
Craycraft waiting on us with a horse boat. He, with his 
guard, six men, started that night after General Clark. 

Aug. 16. Colonel Lochery detached Captain Shannon 
,:vith seven men and a letter after General Clark and ,ve 
moved that day to the Little Connavvay (Kanavvha) ,vith 
all our horses on board the boats. 
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Aug. r7. Two men went out to hunt vvho never re-
turned to us. We DJ.Oved that day to Buffalo Island. 

Aug. 18. To Catfish Island. 
Aug. 19. To Bare Banks. 
Aug. 20. We met with two of Shannon's men who told 

us they had put to shore to cook, below the mouth of the 
Siotha (Scioto) ,vhere Shannon sent them and a sergeant 
out to hunt. When they had got about half a mile in the 
,voods they heard a number of guns fire, which they sup­
posed to be Indians firing on the rest of the party and they 
immediately took up the river to meet us; but unfortu­
nately the sergeant's knife dropped on the ground and it 
ran directly through his foot and he died of the wound in 
a fevv minutes. We sailed all night. 

Aug. 22. We moved to the Tw·o Islands. 
Aug. 22. To Sassafras bottom. 
Aug. 23. Went all night and all day. 
Aug. 24. Colonel Lochery ordered the boats to land 

on the Indiana shore, about ten miles belovv the mouth of 
the Great l\1eyamee (lV[iami) river, to cook provisions and 
cut grass for the horses, when we were fired on by a party 
of Indians from the bank. We took to our boats expecting 
to cross the river, and were fired on by another party in 
a number of canoes in the river and soon vve became a 
prey to them. They killed the colonel and a number more 
after they were prisoners. The number of our killed was 
about forty. They marched us that night about eight miles 
up the river and encamped. 

Aug. 25. We marched eight miles up the Meymee 
river and encamped. 

Aug. 26. Lay in camp. 
Aug .. 27. The party that took us was joined by one hun­

dred ,vhite men under the command of Captain Thomp­
son and three hundred Indians under the command of 
Captain l\1cKee. 
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Aug. 28. The whole of the Indians and white men went 
down against the settlements of Ke?tucky, excepting a 
sergeant and eighteen men which were left to take care ot 
sixteen prisoners and stores that were left there. We lay 
there until the 15th of September. 

Sept. 15, 1781. We started towards the Shawnee towns 
on our way to .Detroit. 

Sept. 19. A~rived at Chillecothey, where the Indians 
took all the prisoners from Captain Thompson excepting 
six of us. We lay there until the 26th. 

Sept. 26. We marched to Laremes. 
Sept. 27. Over the carrying place to the Claize. 
Sept. 28. To the Taway village. 
Sept. 29. Continued our march. 
Sept. 30. Marched all day through swampy ground. 
Oct. I. Arrived at Roche de Bout and rested there 

eight days. 
Oct. 4. Captain Thompson marched for Detroit and 

left us with the l\:lohawks where we lay until the 8th. 
Oct. 8. Started in a canoe ""·ith the Indians for Detroit 

and lay at the foot of the rapids a11 night. 
Oct. 9. Got to Stony Point, half way to Detroit, from 

the mouth of the Mame (lvlaumee) river. 
Oct. 10. Got to the spring well, four miles from De­

troit. 
Oct. I 1. Taken into Detroit and given up to Major 

Arent Schuyler De Pester, who confined us to the cita­
del. 

Oct. 13. Got into good quarters and ,vere \vell used; 
had clothing and liberty of going, where we pleased round 
the town until the fourth of November. 

Nov. 4. We went on board the s1oop Felicity bound 
for Niagara. 

Nov. 5. Lay at anchor in Put-in-Bay. 
Nov. 6. Likewise. 
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Nov. 7. Set sail with a fair wind. 
Nov. 8. Wind ahead. 
Nov. 9. Sprung the mast by distress of weather. 
Nov. 10. Very stormy weather, lower our sails. 
Nov. I 1. Put in at Presque Isle Bay. 
Nov. 12. Lay in said Harbor. 
Nov. 13. Sailed for Fort Erie. 
Nov. 14. Went to Batteaux to Fort Schlosser one mile 

above Niagara Falls. 
Nov. 15. Went over the carrying place to Niagara 

Fort and put on board the Seneca. 
Nov. 16. Set sail for Carleton Island. 
Nov. 17. 
Nov. 19. 
Nov. 20. 

Arrived at said place. 
Put in the guard house at said place. 
Started in Batteaux for Montreal. 

Nov. 21. Continued on our journey. 
Nov. 22. Lay at Osvvegatchie. 
Nov. 23. Crossed the Long Saut. 
Nov. 24. Arrived at Coteau du Lac. 
Nov. 25. Crossed the Cascades to the Isle of Berrot. 
Nov. 26. Was beat by wind up Chateaugay Island. 
Nov. 27. Crossed Chateaugay river and went to Caugh-

nawaga, an Indian village, and crossed the river St. Law­
rence with much difficulty and lay at La Chine all night. 

Nov.• 28. Drew provisions and were insulted by 
drunken Indians ; went down to Montreal and were de­
livered to General Spike who put us in close confine­
ment. 

Nov. 29. Removed to the long house in St. Marc par­
ish and remained there until May 26, 1782. 

May 26, '82. Scaled the pickets about 2 o'clock in the 
day time, and crossed the river at Longueil church and 
got into the woods immediately, and steered for Sorrel 
river; crossed it that night and went into a Frenchman's 
barn,. and killed two lambs and took two horses and rode 
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all night till day-break, then we made a halt, skinned and 
barbecued the lambs. 

l\1ay 27. Started with our horses, got them about five 
miles and were obliged to turn them out of hand on ac­
count of svvampy ground and steered an east course all 
day, and came to the river Missisque, crossed it on a raft; 
marched about two miles after dark and encamped. 

May 28. Marched about day-break. Had gone one 
mile ,,,hen we heard the drums beat the reveille from a 
block-house on said river. We steered that day southeast 
expecting to strike Reason's road but found it not. We 
encamped that night on a very high mountain. 

May 29. Found a large quantity of snow on said 
mountain. Crossed the river Missisque and another moun­
tain that day and encamped. 

May 30. Crossed three mountains and camped. 
May 3 r. Came to a level country and crossed four 

creeks, one very difficult to cross, that emptied into Lake 
l\1emphremagog. We were obliged to camp on bad 
ground that night, and our provisions were done. 

June I. Our provisions being done we were obliged to 
kjll our dog and eat him, lost our compass but Providence 
favored us with clear weather that day and part of the next. 
We steered our old course, southeast and encamped. 

June 2. Struck a branch of the Passumpsic river and 
kept down it, and in the evening made a raft, expecting to 
go by "\Nater, but was disappointed by driftwood. We en­
camped in the forks of said river all night. 

June 3. Kept our o1d course and struck an east branch 
of saidriver. We kept down it by reason of dark weather. 
We encamped that night on dead running water. 

June 4. l\1ade t\\;O rafts and never got any service of 
them, by reason of rapid running vvater, and kept our old 
course that day and encamped. 

June 6. Continued our march and struck the settlement 
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of Cohorse on said river, that evening at one Smith's. We 
came down the Connecticut that night and crossed below 
the forks ,vhere we staid all night. 

June 7. Came past Ebr. Willoughby and to Richard 
Salmon's where we staid all night, twelve miles from where 
we struck the settlement. 

June 8. Came to Brigadier-General Bayley's and rested 
there two days. 

June 10. Crossed the river to his son's, Ephr. Bayley's, 
,vhere we got a pair of shoes, and went to James Wood­
ward's, Esquire, where we staid all night. 

· June 11.. To Captain Ladd's, 2I miles. 
June 12. To Colonel Johnson's, two miles. 
June 13. To Captain Clement's on our way to Penny-

suik, I I miles. 
June 14. To Emerson's, Esquire, 21 miles. 
June 15. To Captain Favor's, 19 miles. 
June 16. To Colonel Garrishe's, 14 miles. 
June 17. To Colonel Walker's in Pennycuik, 12 miles, 

·where the general court was. There we made application 
for money and next day got a little. 

June 18. Went to Captain Todd's, 1 r miles. 
June 19. To Captain Walker's where we eat dinner; 

and left the Merrimac river, and got on the great road for 
Fishkill's to headquarters, and staid that night at the 
sign of the Lion, 30 miles. 

June 20. To Mr. I-Iolton's, four miles from Lancaster 
in the Bay State, 25 miles. 

June 2 r. To Worcester and from there to Mr. Ser­
geant's, where we staid three nights, and got two pairs 
of trowsers made. 

June 24. To Benj. Cotten's, 35 miles. 
June 25. To Springfield and crossed the Connecticut 

river and came to Mr. ~ansee's in Connecticut province, 
32 miles. 

June 26. To Mr. Cimp's in Washington town, 40 miles. 
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June 27. Came past Bull's works and into York prov­
i_nce to Thos. Storm's, Esq., where we lay all night. 

June 28. Came to Fishkill's landing, 15 miles, and 
crossed the North river to New burg to headquarters, expect­
ing to get a supply of money, but his Excellency was gone up 
the river to Albany, and we could not obtain any. From 
thence to Ne\V vVindsor, two miles, ,vhere we met with a 
friend, but no acquaintance, who lent us money to carry 
us to Philadelphia, which vvas a great favor. We came 
that night to John Brouster' s, I I miles. 

June 29. To Mr. Snyder's tavern, Jersey province, 32 
miles. 

June 30. Came to Hackettstown and came to Mr. Has­
let's, 27 miles. 

July 1. Through Phillipsburg and from there we crossed 
the Dela'\tvare river at Howell's ferry and got into Penn­
sylvania to Wm. Bennett's in Buck county, 43 miles and 
27 from Philadelphia. 

July 2. Came to Philadelphia, 27 miles, and stayed 
there until the 4th. 

July 4. Started for Carlysle about 3 o'clock in the after­
noon and came to the Sorrel House, 13 miles. 

July 5. To Captain Mason's, 42 miles. 
July 6. Came through Lancaster and from thence to 

Middletown where we lay all night, 37 miles. 
July 7. Crossed the Su~quahanna river and came to 

Carlysle about I o'clock, 26 miles, an rested three nights. 
July 10. Started and came through Shippensburg to 

Captain Thos. Campbell's, 36 miles~ 
July I I. Rested at said Campbell's. 
July 12. To Mr. Welch's, about 5 miles. 
July r3. To crossing Juniata, 28 miles. 
July 14. Came through Bedford to Arthur McGaugh­

ey's, 21 miles. 
July 15. To Laud's in the Glades, 32 miles. 
July 16. To Colonel Campbell's, 28 miles. 
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29th Congress, 2d Session. Report No. 30. House of Representatives. 

ARCHIBALD LOUGHERY. 

[To accompany Bill House of Representatives, No. 6II .] 

JANUARY 20, 1847. 
Mr. Blanchard from the Committee on Public Lands 

made the following 

REPORT: 

The Committee on Public Lands, to vvhom was referred 
the claims of Jane Thompson and Elizabeth McBrier, of 
Westmoreland county; Pennsylvania, make the following 
report: 

That the Commonwealth of Virginia, on the second day 
of January, I 781, yielded to the Congress of the United 
States, for the benefit of said States, all right, title and 
claim which the said commonwealth had to the territory 
northwest of the river Ohio, subject to the conditions an­
nexed to the said act of cession; which said act of cession, 
with the conditions annexed, the Congress of the United 
States accepted, amongw hich conditions was the following: 
''That a quantity, not exceeding one hundred and fifty thou­
sand acres_ofland promised by the State of Virginia, should 
be allowed and granted to the then Colonel (now General) 
George Rogers Clark, and to the officers and soldiers of 
his regiment who marched with him -v.·hen the posts of Kas­
kaskias and St. Vincents were reduced, and to the officers 
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and soldiers that have since been incorporated into the said 
regiment ; to be laid off in one tract, the length of which 
not to exceed double the breadth, in such place on the 
northeast side of the Ohio, as a majority of the officers 
shall choose ; and to be afterwards divided among the said 
officers and men in due proportion, according to the laws 
of Virginia." 

The committee further report, that it appears by the 
affidavits of credible witnesses, that Colonel Archibald 
Loughery, father of the above-named claimants ( which 
affidavits are hereto annexed and made part of this re­
port), some time d~ring the summer of 1781 raised several 
companies of volunteers, of vvhich he was chosen com­
mander, for the purpose of joining the forces of General 
George Rogers Clark in the expedition against the Mohawk 
and Seneca Indians, inhabiting the country now belonging 
to the State of Ohio. That, in August, 1781, he marched 
with his men to Wheeling, Ohio, expecting to join the 
forces under said General Clark, but when he and his men 
arrived at Wheeling, they found General Clark had left that 
place a few days before they arrived, but had left boats for 
Colonel Loughery and his men to follow them. That 
they took the boats thus left for them, but some,vhere near 
the mouth of the Big Miami river, Colonel Loughery and 
his men landed to cook and eat some food, and were at­
tacked by a large body of Indians, and the said Loughery 
and a number of his men were killed, and the re­
mainder taken prisoners by the Indians, and never joined 
the forces under General Clark as was intended. 

The committee,. therefore, report that, upon the above 
state of facts, the heirs of the said Colonel Archibald 
Loughery are entitled to the same quantity of bounty land 
as if their father had actually joined the forces _under Gen­
eral George Rogers Clark. 
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PENNSYLVANIA, l 
WESTMORELAND COUNTY. ~ ss. 

Personally appeared before the subscriber, a justice of 
the peace in and for said county, James Kean, who being 
duly sworn according to law, upon his solemn oath, doth 
depose and say: That sometime in the summer of seven­
teen hundred and eighty-one, volunteers were raised jn 
Westmoreland county, Pennsylvania, for the purpose of 
joining an expedition at that time making against the Mo­
hawk, Seneca, and other tribes of Indians ; that said vol­
unteers were to march in the country now composing the 
State of Ohio; that the companies· in Westmoreland 
county were under the command of Colonel Archibald 
Loughery, and were composed of upwards of a hundred 
men under the command of said colonel. This deponent 
was attached to a company of rangers under Captain 
Thomas Stokely ; that they had volunteered to march un­
der the command of General George Rogers Clark on the 
expedition ; that Colonel Loughery marched his men to 
Wheeling, where this deponent understood they were t0 
join General Clark. On the arrival of the troops there, 
they found that General Clark had left there four days be­
fore, but had left four or five boats behind to carry on 
Colonel Loughery and his men. From this place Colonel 
Loughery sent a messenger (Richie Wallace) after Gen­
eral Clark ; he brought word that Clark would wait for 
them at the mouth of some creek, the name of which is 
not remembered by deponent. Colonel Loughery and 
his companies embarked in the boats· left for them at 
Wheeling by General Clark, and arrived on that or the 
next day at the mouth of the creek. On their way down 
they took sixteen deserters from the troops of General 
Clark, and carried them along back. On their arrival at 
the creek, they found General Clark and his troops had 
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left. Colonel Loughery then proceeded ,vith his men after 
Clark in the boats. On the 21st or 24th of August, 1781, 
they landed on the north bank of the Ohio, about ten miles 
below the mouth of the Big Miami river, for the purpose 
of cooking some victuals ; the river vvas then lovv ; there 
was a sand-bar that reached into the river from the south 
side. As they were kindling their fires, the Indians com­
met .ced an attack from an upper bank. Colonel Laugh­
er) ordered his troops to the boats, to pass over to the 
sand-bar; as soon as they embarked and commenced 
moving over, a large body of Indians rushed from the 
woods on the bar, and prevented a landing or making an 
escape, ,v hen the colonel ordered us to surrender. There 
were about thirty men killed in the fight on the side of the 
whites. Within an hour or two after the fight this depo­
nent understood Colonel Loughery was killed by a Shawnee 
Indian as he was sitting on a log; deponent within that 
time saw the scalp of the colonel in the hands of an In­
dian ; the peculiar color of the hair caused deponent to 
kno\v the scalp. 

JAMES KEAN, his x mark. 
Sworn and subscribed before me this 25th August, 1843. 

W. McWILLIAMS. 

I do certify that I am acquainted with James Kean, the 
foregoing deponent, and that he is a man of credibility, 
and that full credit is given to his testimony as such. 

Witness my hand and seal this 25th August, 1843. 
[L. S.] W. McWILLIAMS. 

STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, } 

W C ss. 
ESTMORELAND OUNTY. 

I, David Fullwood, prothonotary of the court of com­
mon pleas of the county of Westmoreland, in the Com­
monwealth of Pennsylvania, do hereby certify that vV. 
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Mc Williams, Esq., before whom the foregoing deposition 
was made, and whose name, in his own proper hand­
writing, is to the above certificate appended, was then, 
and now is, an acting justice of peace in and for said 
county of Westmoreland, duly commissioned and ap. 
pointed, and to all whose official acts and deeds full faith 
and credit are of right due. 

In testimony whereof I have hereto set my 
hand and affixed the sea 1 of said court, at 

[L. S.] Greensburg, the twenty-fifth day of August, in 
the year of our Lord one thousand eight hun­
dred and forty-three. 

DAVID FULLWOOD, Prot. 

PENNSYLVANIA, ! 
B C ss. 

UTLER OUNTY. 

Personally appeared before me, a justice of the peace 
in and for the county of Butler, William Christie, and after 
being duly sworn according to law, deposeth and saith 
that he was well acquainted with Colonel Archibald 
Loughery, of Westmoreland county, and his wife Mary, 
and that he was well acquainted with their two reputed 
daughters, Jane Loughery and Elizabeth Loughery, and 
that said Jane was married to Samuel Thompson, of said 
county of Westmoreland, and that Elizabeth was married 
to David McBrier, of the same county. And further 
saith not. WILLIAM CHRISTIE. 

Sworn and subscribed before me, this the 9th day of 
March, 1844. 

JoHN BREWSTER, J. P. 

I do certify that I am acquainted \Vith \Villian1 Christie, 
the foregoing deponent, and that he is a man of credi­
bility, and that full credit is given to his testimony as such. 
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Given under my hand and seal, this the 9th day of 
March, 1844. 

[L. S.] JOHN BREWSTER, J.P. 

BuT~ER CouNTY, 1 
STATE OF' PENNSYLVANIA. ' ss. 

I, Jacob Mechlin, Jr., prothonotary of the court of com­
mon plea~ in and for the county of Butler, in the com­
monwealth of Pennsylvania, do by these presents, certify 
that John Brewster, Esq., before whom the foregoing cer­
tificate was taken, and who has thereunto, in his own 
proper handwriting, subscribed his name, was at the time 
of taking such certificate, and now is, an acting justice of 
the peace in and for the said county, duly commissioned 
and sworti, to all whose acts, as such, due faith and credit 
are, and ()f right out to be, given throughout the United 
States and elsewhere. 

In testimony whereof I have hereunto set 
my hand and affixed the seal of said court of 

[L. S.] Butler, in the said county, this the 9th day of 
March, in the year of our Lord one thousand 
eight hundred and forty-four. 

Attest: JACOB MECHLIN, JR., 
Prothonotary. 

PENNSYLVANIA, l 
WESTM:ORELAND COUNTY. ~ ss. 

Personally appeared before me, the subscriber, a justice 
of the peace in and for said county, James Chambers, who 
being duly s\vorn according to lavv upon his solemn oath 
doth depc)se and say : that I ,vas taken prisoner by the 
Indians h1 June, seventeen hundred and eighty-one, and 
taken to l)etroit; and that ,vhile there Ezekiel Lewis, with 
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several others, were brought prisoners to Detroit, and 
stated to said deponent that they had been taken prison­
ers \Vith Colonel Archibald Loughery who was killed by 
the Indians. Said deponent was acquainted with Colonel 
Loughery, and his family consisted of a wife and two 
daughters-] ane, \vho was afterward married to Samuel 
Thompson, since deceased, and Elizabeth, who was after­
wards married to David McBrier, since deceased-who 
now reside in Washington township, Westmoreland county, 
and State of Pennsylvania. And further saith not. 

JAMES CHAMBERS. 

Sworn and subscribed before me, March 6, 1844. 
ALEXANDER THOMPSON. 

I do certify that I an ... acquainted with James Chambers, 
the foregoing deponent, and that he is a man of credibil­
ity, and that full credit is given to his testimony as such. 
Witness my hand and seal, this, the 6th day of March, 
A. D. 1844. 

[L. s.] ALEX. THOMPSON. 

STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, ! 
W C ss. 

ESTMORELAND OUNTY. 

I, David Fullwood, prothonotary of the court of com­
mon pleas for the county of Westmoreland, in the Com­
monwealth of Pennsylvania, do hereby certify that Alex­
ander Thompson, before ,vhom the foregoing deposition 
,vas made, and whose name, in his ovvn proper handwrit­
ing, is to the within certificate appended, was, then, and 
now is, an acting justice of the peace in and for the county 
of Westmoreland, duly commissioned and appointed, and 
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to all whose official acts and deeds full faith and credit are 
of right due. 

[L. S.] 

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto 
set my hand and affixed the seal of said 
court at Greensburg, the fourteenth day 
of March, in the year of our Lord, one 
thousand eight hundred forty-four. 

DAvrn FuLL\voon, 
Prothonotary. 

PENNSYLVANIA, l 
ARMSTRONG COUNTY. ss. 

Personally appeared before the subscriber a justice of 
the peace in and for said county, Ezekiel Lewis, a resident 
of the county of Arn1strong, Pennsylvania, who being duly 
sworn according to la,l\', ·upon his solemn oath doth depose 
and say: That sometime in the summer of seventeen hun­
dred and eighty-one, volunteers were raised in Westmore­
land county, Pennsylvania, for the purpose of joining an 
expedition at that time making against the Moha\vk, Sen­
eca, and other tribes of Indians ; that said volunteers were 
to march in the country now composing the State of Ohio ; 
that the companies in Westmoreland were put under the 
command of Archibald Loughery, then a resident of West­
moreland county, who commanded said companies as 
colonel, and was received and acknowledged by them as 
their colonel in command : the troops rendezvoused on 
Sewekey [Sewickley?] or Jacob Swamps, Westmoreland 
county. Colonel Loughery had, when he started from the 
place of rendezvous, upwards of eighty men; the compa­
nies composing Colonel Loughery's command ,vere com­
manded by Captain Robert Orr and William Campbell. 
I vvas under the command of Captain William Campbell. 
Deponent says they marched from the place of rendezvous, 
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he thinks, to McKeesport, on the Monongahela river and 
descended said river to Pittsburg: Captain Stockley 
joined the command of Colonel Loughery, some place be­
fore we got to Wheeling ( don't recollect the place partic­
ularly) ; from Pittsburg we traveled by land to Wheeling, 
where ,ve embarked in boats and started down the Ohio 
river to join General Clark; in one or two days ,:ve stop­
ped at the mouth of a creek where ,ve expected to meet 
General Clark; when we arrived there, General Clark 
had gone on down the river; on our way down the river 
we took some deserters from General Clark's command, 
and carried them with us ; Colonel Loughery proceeded 
on down the river, intending to overtake General Clark, 
until the 24th of August, 1781, about 9 or 10 o'clock; we 
landed on the north bank of the Ohio for the purpose ot 
cooking breakfast ; we had killed a buffalo the evening 
before ; where we landed was near the mouth of the Big 
Miami. As we were kindling the fires, the Indians com­
menced an attack upon us ; there were about forty of tpe 
whites killed, and the rest all taken prisoners, together 
with Colonel Loughery and all his officers; in about t\~.ro 
hours after we were taken, one of the Indians tomahawked 
Colonel Loughery sitting on a log ; I saw him after he 
was killed, and his scalp was taken off; deponent saith he 
had been intimately acquainted with Colonel Loughery for 
some years before the time of the campaign spoken of; 
knew he had a wife and some children ; does not know 
ho"v many. And further saith not. 

EZEKIEL LEvvrs. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, 11th March, 1844. 

JOHN R. JOHNSTON, 

Justice of the Peace. 

We do certify that ,ve have been intimately acquainted 
with Ezekiel Lewis, the foregoing deponent, for the last 
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twenty-five years, and that he is a man of truth and ve­
racity, and that he is so acknowledged in the neighbor­
hood in which he was raised since the time we have been 
acquainted with him. 

Witness my hand and seal, 11th March, 1844. 
JOHN R. JOHNSTON, 

[L. S.] Justice of the Peace. 
ROBERT ORR. 

STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, ! t 
A C SC. 

RMSTRONG OUNTY. 

I, James Douglass, prothonotary of the court of common 
please in and for said county, do certify that John R. John­
son, esquire, before whom the within deposition was taken, 
\Vas, at the time of taking the same, an acting justice of 
the peace in and for said county, duly elected, commis­
sioned and sworn, to all of whose official acts as such, full 
faith and credit are due and of right ought to be given, as 
well throughout the county aforesaid as elsewhere ; and 
tbat his signature thereto is genuine and in his proper 
handwriting. 

In testimony vvhereof I have hereunto set 
my hand and affixed the seal of said county at 

[L. S.] Kittaning, the I 1th day of march, in the year 
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and 
forty-four. J. DouGLAss, Prothonotary. 

From reports of Committees, 2d Sess., 29th Cong. No. 
30. 

Same report and affidavits made repor~s Corns. I st Sess. 
35 Cong., Vol. II, 289. April 17, 1858. [Bill H. R. No. 
5o4.J 
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AN ACCOUNT 

OF 

PIGEON ROOST MASSACRE. 

BY JUDGE I. NAYLOR.* 

The war of 1812 forms an important era in American 
history. At this eventful period I lived at my father's 
home in Clark county, then Indiana Territory, near 
Charlestown, three miles from the Ohio river. Many 
of the citizens of this county having serve<;! as volunteers 
under General Harrison on the Tippecanoe campaign, a 
few months prior to the declaration of war, had imbibed a 
spirit of military enthusiasm, and were animated by feel­
ings of hostility towards Great Britain and her savage 

*Isaac Naylor was born in Rockingham county, Virginia, in 1790. He 
was the son of John and Elizabeth Naylor of an excellent family on both 
sides. His mother was the only sister of James, John and Charles Beggs, 
who were prominent in Indiana Territorial and State affairs. His par­
ents moved to Charlestown, Indiana, when he was still a child. In 1817 
he was admitted to the bar. He was in the militia service of the Indiana 
Territory from 1813 to 1814 inclusive, and fought at the battle of Tippe­
canoe. In 1826 he married Catherine Anderson, daughter of Captain 
Robert Anderson of Revolutionary fame. He moved to Crawfordsville in 
1833, and was in 1837 elected judge of the twelfth circuit, and served until 
1852. In 1860 he was elected judge of the Court of Common Pleas, retir­
ing to private life in 1868. He died at Crawfordsville, Indiana, April 26'. 

1873. 
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allies. They had hailed the "Declaration of War" as a sec­
ond "Declaration of Independence," and had manifested 
their approbation of this act of the National Legislature 
by rejoicing and illuminations. 

Under the influence of these feelings and this spirit of 
rnilitary ardor, in the latter part of August a company of 
rnounted riflemen, commanded by Captain Pittman, 
marched to Vincennes for the defense of the western por­
tion of the Territory. 

About this time we learned that General Hull had disgrace­
fully surrendered his gallant army to the British general as 
prisoners of war. The news of this event passed through 
the Territory like an electric shock, inspiring all with fear­
ful forebodings of Indian depredations and indiscriminate 
slaughter of the inhabitants along the line of our frontier. 

Our anticipations of impending evil were soon realized. 
A simultaneous attack was made by the Indians at many 
points of our frontier settlements. At sunset, about the 
first of August, some eight or ten Indians made an attack 
on what was called the Pigeon Roost settlement, fifteen 
miles from Charlestown, and in one brief hour killed about 
twenty-three persons, including men, women and children, 
some of whom were consumed in their homes where they 
were murdered. But one house '"as successfully defended. 
This ,vas the house of Mr. Collings, the father of Zebulon 
Collings, Esq., who has written a more specific and en­
larged account of this massacre. 

One of the sons of Mr. Collings was at work in a field, 
and \Vas mortally wounded before he could reach his fath­
er's dwelling. He was found in a day or two in a flax 
house1 and died shortly after\ivards. 

After scalping and mangling their victims in a most hor­
rible manner, the Indians then plundered and set fire to 
the houses and consumed them to ashes. 

I heard the nev.rs of this mournful event about ro o'clock 
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in the morning of the next day after it had occurred, and 
having my rifle, powder and bullets in order in thirty minutes 
I was on my horse marching to\vard the Pigeon Roost• 
I \vas soon in company with many mounted riflemen whom 
I found on the road. We arrived at the ill-fated spot about 
2 P. M., our, company having increased to the number of 
tvvo or three hundred mounted riflemen. 

Oh, what a mournful scene of desolation, carnage and 
death met our vision, as we beheld the smoking ruins of 
log-cabins and the mangled bodies of men, women and 
children, their once happy inmates! I have seen the Tip­
pecanoe battle-fields strewn with dead and dying soldiers. 
They had fallen in deadly strife with a sav_age foe whom 
they had conquered. They had fallen in the soldier's cos­
tume, a soldier's armor. They were entitled to a soldier's 
grave. Not so in the Pigeon Roost massacre. Here all 
were doomed to indiscriminate slaughter, from the suck­
ling babe to the hoary-headed grandmother and grandsire. 
Neither age, nor sex, nor beauty, nor innocence could 
stay the hand of the merciless savage. 

The Pigeon Roost settlement was confined to less than a 
section of land. It was a fertile spot in the midst of sur­
rounding sterility. Its fertility was due to the roosting of 
pigeons there for a long series of years. It was detached 
from the main settlement by an intervening distance of 
five miles. 

A Mrs. Beal, whose husband was a volunteer in Captain 
Pitman's company at Vincennes, hearing the yells of the 
Indians, retired from her log-cabin, with her two inf ants, 
to a sink hole in a cornfield, and remained there till nine 
or ten o'clock at night, when she left her hiding place and 
traveled a lonely path to the main settlement, where she 
arrived in safety with her children, at two o'clock the next 
morning, exhibiting a presence of mind and a degree of 
moral courage highly honorable to fe111ale character. 
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About this time an attack was made on Fort Harrison 
by a thousand or tvvelve hundred Indians. The garrison, 
consisting of a company of U. S. Inf ran try, was com­
manded by Captain Zachary Taylor, novv Major-General 
·raylor commanding the U. S. Army in Mexico. The 
fort ,vas most gallantly and successfully def~nded, and 
after a siege of five days the Indians retired At three 
o'clock in the afternoon we found the Indians' trail and 
pursued it till dark,. and then encamped. Finding that the 
Indians had left the Pigeon Roost early in the morning, \Ve 
returned home. In two or three days a large number of 
brave Kentuckians came to our assistance. They were 
all mounted riflemen, anxious to avenge the death of those 
unfortunate inhabitants who had been murdered at Pig­
eon Roost, and they were joined by a large number of 
Indiana mounted riflemen, who commenced an expedition 
against the Delaware towns, located on the west branch 
of White river. In attempting a military organization, 
the expedition failed through the ambition of a few men 
who desired to have the command of the troops. We 
then dispersed and retired to our homes, finding a general 
panic among the people, rnany of whom had left their 
homes and gone to Kentucky. 

The court-house at Charlestown was .converted into a 
fort for the protection of the town and its vicinity. Forts 
were erected all along the line of our frontier settlements. 
They were garrisoned by the militia of the Territory, 
whose duty it ,vas to range from one fort to the other, 
until the spring of 1813, when the U. S. Rangers \veat 
into service. In the early part of March, 1813, the In­
dians killed a lV[r. Huffman, wounded his wife, and took 
his grandson prisoner in daylight, in sight of one of the 
forts, eight miles from Charlestown. 

The preceding is but a brief and imperfect sketch of the 
war scenes of 1812 and '13 as they appeared in a portion 
of Indiana. 
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PIGEO:t-~-ROOST l\ifASSACRE. 

A. W. TOBIAS, IN :MADISON COURIER. 

Pigeon Roost was the name of a small settlement 
formed in 1809, and was so called from the innurnerable 
number of pigeons that roosted in that vicinity. It was 
situated five miles south of Scottsburg, the present county 
seat of Scott, and near a beautiful stream that bears the 
memorable name until this day. At the time of the 
massacre most of the men ,vere a way from home. In the 
afternoon of September 3, 1812, Ellis Payne and a Mr. 
Collings, while out bee-hunting one and a half miles from 
the present site of Vienna, were surprised and killed by a 
party of Shawnee warriors. Scalping their victims, they 
hastened toward the settlement, vvhich they reached about 
sundown. In one short hour one man, five women and 
sixteen children were struck dead by the ruthless tommy­
hawk of the fiendish savages. Among the killed were 
Henry Collings anj wife, Mrs. Payne and her eight chil­
dren, Mrs. Collings and her seven children, lVIrs. John 
Norris, her only child and aged mother-in-law-for the 
aged were spared no more than the infant. Mrs. Briggs 
concealed herself and children in a sink-hole until the In­
dians became busily engaged in burning and plundering, 
when she fled, and succt:eded in reaching the residence of 
her brother. John Collings, son of William E. Collings, 
had just caught a horse to go after the c.ovvs, \'\'hen he saw 
an Indian approaching in a threatening attitude. He 
dropped the rein and fled, pursued by the savage, who was 
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gaining on him, when he heard the report of his father's 
rifle, and saw the savage fall with the blood streaming 
from his breast. He succeeded in reaching the house in 
safety. There was in the house : William E. Collings 
(whom the Indians well knew, and from his unerring aim 
named Long Knife), his two children, John and Lydia, and 
Captain Norris. They kept the Indians back until about 
dark. They knew that as soon as it was dark enough for 
the Indians to approach the house without being seen they 
i,,vould set fire to it, and burn them alive. They therefore 
decided to risk the peril of escape. Lydia went first, then 
her brother John, followed by Norris, and lastly, "Long 
Knife." As the latter was passing the corn-crib an Indian 
fired at him. He immediately raised his gun to return the 
fire, when he found that the ball fired by the savage had 
broken the lock of his gun. He hallooed to Norris to 
bring him the other gun, but Norris was like the Irishman, 
"He had a brave heart, but covvardly pair of legs," and 
they carried him away, leaving Collings to fight the In­
dians alone with a broken gun. When they crowded him 
too close he would raise his gun and pretend that he was 
going to fire, and thus frighten them back ;·for they knew, 
from the many shooting-matches in which he came out 
second to none, that it was folly to stand before his aim. 
In this way he reached the corn-field, under cover of which 
he escaped. After plundering the houses the Indians set 
fire to them and most of the dead bodies being ,vithin the 
houses were thus consumed. However, some of the chil­
dren were pierced by sharp sticks and left sitting against 
the trees. Their horrible deed accomplished, the Indians 
started north,vard. A large force of Clark county militia 
were soon gathered from the vicinity of Charlesto,vn, which 
reached the scene of carnage vvhile the smoking remains 
of the cabins and charred bodies presented the most hor­
rible spectacle they had ever witnessed. They immedi-



134 LOVGJIERY'S lJEFR.-11', RTC. 

ately pursued the savages to the l\1uscatatuck \vhich they 
found so much S\vollen that thev could not effect a crossing, 

w . 

and were compelled to give up the pursuit. · 1,hey then re-
turned and buried the remains of the victims in two 
graves about one hundred yards east of the J., M. & I. 
railroad, and near what is since kno\vn as the Pigeon­
roost or Sodom Cemetery. At present there is nothing 
to show where the graves are except three or four rough 
stones and. a large sassafras tree, \\'hicl~ is said to have 
witnessed the event, but is no,v thought to be entirely 
dead. 


